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8P I lntel'rl,ational Fhance Linited
Yearendcd3l Dec,t,mbor20ll

Directors' Report

The directors submit herewith their annual report together with the audiled financial
statements of BPI lntemational Finanoe Limited (the "Company") forthe yearended
31 December2018.

Prlnclpal activities

The Company is a deposit-taking company registered under the Hong Kong Banking
Ordinanoe. The Company is licensed under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
Ordinane for dealing in securities, advising on securities and asset management activities
Its principal activities are the provision of financialservices and dealing in securities on
behalf of customers.

Results and appropriationa

The results of the Company for Ure year ended 31 December 2O18 are set out in the
statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income on page 6.

The directors re@mmended the transfer of BPI Remittance Centre (HK) Limited to its
ultimate holding company, Bank of Philippines lslands in specie distribution of dividend with
consideration of HKD19.6 million. The dividend was paid on 24 October 2018 (2017: Nil).

Sharc capltal

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out in note 20 to the
financial statements.

Directots of the Company

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Archie Lin
Ma. Carmencitra S. Bustamante
Tomas S. Chuidian
Jonathan Paul Back
Ki Myung Hong
Edgardo O. Madrilejo
Mario Antonio V. Paner
Natividad N. Alejo
Joseph Albert L. Gotuaco

(appointed on24 April 2018)
(appointed on 26 March 2018)
(resigned on 26 March 2018)
(resigned on 28 June 2018)
(resigned on 28 June 2018)
(resigned on 31 October 2018)

ln accordance with Article 85 of the Company's Articles of Association, all direclors retire at
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for reelection
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BPI lntemational Flnarc;B Ltmited
Ysat d|}dod 31 December 2018

Directors'material interests in traneactione, arrangements and contracts that
are eignificant in relation to the Company'g bulinesg

No transactions, anangements and contracts of significance in relation to the Company's
business to which the Company's fellow subsidiaries or its parent company was a party and
in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of he year or at any time during the year.

At no time during the year was the Company, its fellow subsidiaries, its parent company or its
other associated corporations a party to any arangement to enable the directors and chief
executives of the Company (including their spouse and children under 18 years of age) to
hold any interests or shorl positions in the shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or its specified undertakings or other associated corporations.

illanagement co ntracts

No contrads concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year.

Gompliance with the Banking (Disclosure) Rulee

The Company is required to comply with the Banking (Disclosure) Rules. The Banking
(Disclosure) Rules set out the minimum standards for public disclosure which authorized
institutions must make in respect of the statement of profit and loss and other
comprehensive, its state of affairs and capital adequacy. The financial statements for the
financial year ended 31 December 2018 comply fully with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Banking (Disclosure) Rules.

Permitted indemnity provisiona

At no time during the financial year and up to the date of this Directors' report, there was or
is, any permitted indemnily provision being in force for the benefil of any of the directors of
the Company.

Auditors

KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Tomas S. Chuidian. Chairman

Hong Kong,

2 6 APR 20t9
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lndependent auditor's report to the members of
BPI lnternational Finance Limited
(lncorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of BPI lntemational Finance Limited ("the
Company') set out on pages 6 to 55, which comprise the statement of financial position as at
31 December 2018, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
statement of changes in equity and the cash flow statement for the year then ended and
notes to the financial stiatements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

ln our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Company as at 31 December 2018 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong lnstitute of Certified Public Accountants ('HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,

Baels for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance wifrr Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (.HKSAs")
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are furtherdescribed in
the Auditorb responsrb ilities for the audit of the financialslalements section of our report.
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
ProfessionalAccountanfs ("the Code") and rue have fulfilled our otherethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code, We believe that the audit evirjence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion,

lnformation other than the financial statements and eudltor'a report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all
the information included in the annual report, other than the financial stiatements and our
audito/s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover he other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

ln connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether tre other information is malerially inconsistent
with the financialstatements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or othenrrrise appears to
be materially misstated.

lf, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.
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lndependent auditor's report to the members of
BPI lnternational Finance Limited
(lncorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Reaponalbllltlec of the directora for the financlal atalementg

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial stataments that give a true
and fair view in accordance with HKFRSS issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and for such intemal control as the directors determine is neoessary
to enable the preparation of financial statemente that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

ln preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the
Company's ability to continue as a going @noem, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concem and using the going concem basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Company orto oease operations, or have no realistic altemative but to
do so.

Auditorrs rcaponalbllltles for the audlt of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable aseuranoe about whether the financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or enor, and to issue an
auditor's report that includes our opinion. This r€port is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibilily towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

Reasonable asauranc€ is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will ahrays detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or enor and are considercd material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of hese financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise professionaljudgement and
maintain professional scepticism throughout he audit. We also:

ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audil procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from 6110r, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of intemal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

4
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lndependent auditor's report to the members of
BPI lnternational Finance Limited
(lncorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Audito/s responsibiliUes for the audit of the financial statemenb (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going @ncern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material unoertrainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's
ability to continue as a going concem. lf we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are reguired to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if suctr disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to he date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may ceuse the Company to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the direclors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
intemal controlthat we identify during our audit.

rtrfle
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince's Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

2 6 APR 2019
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8P I lntcmdbnal Ffrarca Llnltcd
Fhancial gtalemefts lot tE Wer er'd€d 3l O&erfut mlg

Statement of profit and loss
and other cornprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2018

/Vofe

lnterest incorne

lnterest expenEe

Net interest income

Other operating income

Totaloperating income

Gain from disposalof subsirJiary

Gredit impairment

Operating expenses

ProfiU(losa) beforc taxation

lncome tax expense

ProfiU(loss) for the year

Otrer comprchenslve lncome:

10(a)

Items that may be reclassified subseguently to
profit or loss:

2018
HK$'000

8,517

(2,699)

2017
HK$',000

5,850

(1,856)

5

6

5,818

35,730

3,994

20,578

7

I

41,58

19,100

(632)

(33,032)

24,572

(24,581)

20,984 (e)

(223)

26,984 (2321

Change in fair value of Financial assets
designated at fair value through other
comprehensive inconre, net of tax

Change in fair value of Available-for-sale
securities, net of tax

(2e0)

Total comprehenrive income(loss)
for the year 26,694

The notes on pages 12 to 55 are an integral part of theee financial statements

10(c)

10(c) (260)

(4e2)
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Statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2018

Assetl

Caah and short-term funds
Plaoernents with banka and other financial

inetitutione maturing between one and twelve
months

Financial assets designated at amortsed cost
Held-to+naturity aeoritiea
Advanoes and other accounts
Financial assets designated at fair value

through other comprehensive income
Avai lable-fo r-sale secu rities
lnvestment in subaidhry
Fixed assets

Totalassets

Lhbllltlcs

Time deposits from customers
other payables

Total liabilities

BP t lnlcmalbnal F btrlw Llnftad
Firancial slalcmcrfi lu tln ycal' artdod 3l Dscrlns,er 2Or8

Nofe

11

12
13
14
15

16
17
18
19

2018
HK$'000

',42,5U

173,163
19,285

51,274

69,911

2017
HK$'000

90,354

188,005

19,491
23,582

104,230
500
170224

456,451 426,332

288,016
3,694

259,693
8.902

291,710 268,685

7
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Statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2018 (continued)

Note

Equity

Share capital
Retained eamlnga
lnveetment revaluation reserue

20
21
21

2018
HK0',000

2017
HK$'000

75,000
82,796

(14e)

75,000
90,180

(43e)

16/.,741 157,U7

Total equity and liabilities 458,451 426,332

The financialstatements on pages 6 to 55 were approved by the Boad of Direc'tore on and
were slgned on lts behatf.

Tomas S.

Director

Arch Lin

Dirsc'tor

2 6 APR 2019 2 6 APR IOII

The notes on pages 12 to 55 are an integral part of these financial statemente.
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Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Sharc
capltal

HK$'000

75,000

lnvedment
revaluation

rcserue
HKS'000

Retained
eamings
HK$',000

Total
HK$',000

111 83,028 158,139At I Jenuary 2017

Comprehensive inconp
Loss for the year
other comprehensive loss
Change in fair value of

Available-foreale
securities, net of tax.

Total oomprehensive loss
for the year

At3l December20lTand
t Januery 2018

Comprehensive income
Profrt for the year
Dividend distribution
Other comprehensive

income
Change in fair value of

Financial assets designated
at fair value through other
comprahensive income, net
of tax

(260)

(2321 (2321

(260)

(260) (232) (4e2)

75,000 (149) 82,796 157,&7

26,984
(19,6001

28,984
(19,600)

(2e0) (2e0)

Total comprehensive
income forthe year (2s0) 7,3U 7,Og4

At 3t llecember 2018 75,000 (439) 90,180 184.741

The notes on pages 12 to 55 are an integral part of these financial staternents.
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Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Nofe

Net carh (outflowlinflow from operating
acdvltles before taxatlon

Net Hong Kong profits tax recovered

Net cash (outflow[inflow from operating
activlties aftrer taxadon

lnvesting activities

Purchase of Fixed Assets
Purchase of Financial assets designated at

amortised cost
Purchase of Held-to-maturi$ securities
Purchase of Available-for-sale securities
Proceeds from redemption of Financial assets

designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Proceeds from redemption/disposal of
Availablejor-sa le securities

Proceeds from redemption of Financial assets
designated at amortised cost

Proceeds from redemption of Held-to-maturity
securities

lnterest received from Financial asaets
designated at amortised cost

lnterest received from Held-to-maturity
securities

lnterest received from Financial assets
designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income

lnterest received from Available-for-sale
securities

Dividend reeived

Net cash inflow from invegting activitier

lncrease in cash and cash equlvalents

Gagh and cash equivalente at I January

Cagh and cagh equivalenta at 3l December

26

2018
$'000

(44,643)

2017
$'000

50,957

828

(44,643) 51,785

(333)

(15,264)

32,138

15.661

127

3,742

15,000

(33e)

(15,450)
(66,959)

56,240

25,378

2,181
1

527

51,071 1,579

6,428

251,608

53,3&l

198,2M

10

258,036 251,608
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Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

Note 2018
$'000

Analyaia of cach end crsh cqulvalcnts

Balances with banks and otherfinancial
inatitutions

Placement with banks and otherfinancial
inatitntiona with original maturity wihin three
months

11 56,904

201,132

25E,036

The notes on pages 12 to 55 are an integral part of thes€ financial statements.

2017
$'000

38,121

213,497

251,608

11
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Notes to the financial statements

I General information

The principal activities of BPI lntemational Finance Limited (the "Company") are the provision
of financial services and dealing in securities on behalf of customers. The Company is a
deposit-taking oompany registered under the Hong Kong Banking Ordinance and licensed
under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Ordinance for dealing in securities, advising on
securities and asset management activities.

The Company is incorporated in Hong Kong and its registered oflice is 23lF., Entertainment
Building,30 Queen's Road Central, Hong Kong.

2 Signilicant accountlng policlea

(a) Slatement of compllance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (HKFRSs), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standerds
(Hl(ASs) and lnterpretations iesued by the Hong Kong lnstitute of Certified Public
Accountants (HKICPA), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
reguirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. Significant accounting policies
adopted by the Company are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the current accounting period of the Company. Note 2(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of hese
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Company for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

(b) Easls of preparailon of the flnanclal statemenF

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical
cost basis exept hat the investments in debt and equity eecurities are stated at their fair
value as explained in the accounting policies set out in note 2(g).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSS requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experienoe and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources, Actual results may differ from these estimates,

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis, Revisions to
accounting estimates ar€ recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

12
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2 Signiflcantaccountingpollclee(continued)

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sour@s of estimation uncertainty are discussed in
note 4.

(c) Changes ln accountlng pollcles

The HKICPA has issued a number of new HKFRSs and amendments to HKFRSS that are
first effective for the cunent accounting period of the Company. Of these, the following
developrnents are relevant to the Company's financial statements:

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contncts with customers

- HK(lFRlCl22, Forcign cunency transactbns and advance consideration

The Company has not applied any n€w standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for
the current accounting period, except for the amendments to HKFRS 9, Prepayment features
with negativa compensafion which have been adopted at the same time as HKFRS 9.

(i) HKFRS 9, Financialinstruments

HKFRS 9 replacee HKAS 39, Financial instruments: recognition and measurcmenl. lt sets
out the requirernents for reoognising and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and
some contracts to buy or sell non-financial items.

The Company has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively to items that existed at 1 January 2018
in accordance with the transition requirements. The Company has assessed that the impact
of traneition of HKFRS I did not have a material impact on retained eamings and the related
tax impact at 1 January 2018 and the Company did not recognise the cumulative effect of
initial application as an adjustment to the opening equrty at 1 January 2018, Therefore,
comparative information continues to be reported under HKAS 39,

Further details of the nature and effect of the dranges to previous accounting policies and
the transition approach are set out below:

A. Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities

HKFRS 9 categorises financial assets into three principal classiflcetion categories:
measured at amortised cost, at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
and at fair value through profil or loss (FVPL). These supensede HKAS 39's categories
of held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables, available-for-sale financial
assets and financial assets measured at FVPL. The classification of financial assets
under HKFRS 9 is based on the business model under which the financial asset ie
managed and its contractualcash flow characteristics. Under HKFRS 9, derivatives
embedded in contracts where the host is a financial asset in the scope of the standard
are not separated from the host. lnstead, the hybrid instrument as a whole is assessed
for classification.

13
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Significant accounting pollclee (contlnued)

The following table shows the original measurement categories for €ach class of the
Company's financialassets under HKAS 39 and reconcales the carrying amounts of
those financialassets determined in acoordance with HKAS 39 to those determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9:

Financial assets canied at
amortisd cost

Cash and short-term funds
Placemenb with banks and

other financial institutions
maturing between one and
twelve months

Financial assets designated
at amortieed cost (note (i))

Financial assets canied at
FVOCI

Financial assets deeignated
at fair value through other
comprehensive incorne
(note (ii))

Financial assets classified
ae held-to-maturity
securitiee under HlqS 39
(note (i))

Financial assets classified
as available-for-sale under
HI(AS 39 (note (ii))

H|(AS 39
carrying

amount as at
31 Deccmber

2017
HK$'000

Rec/assr/?calion
HK$',000

H'(FRS 9
carrying

amount as at
1 January 2018

HK$'000

90,354

188,005

19,491

90,354

188,005

19,491

278,359 19,491 297,950

104,230 104,230

104,230 104,230

19,491 (19,491)

104,230 (104,230)

14
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2 Slgnificantaccountingpollclee(contlnued)

Notes:

(i) lnvestments in debt securities with positive intention and ability to hold to maturity
are classified as financial assets carried at amortised cost under HKAS 39.

(ii) lnvestments in debt securities with intention to be held for an indefinite period of
time, whid.r may be sole in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest
rates, exchange rates or equity prices, are claseified as available-for-sale
financial assets. These assets are classified as financialassets carried at FVOCI
under HKFRS 9.

B. Credit losses

HKFRS 9 replacea the "incuned loss" model in HKAS 39 with the.expected credit loss"
(ECL) model. The ECL model requires an ongoing measurement of credit risk
associated wih a financial asset and therefore racognises ECLs earlier than under the
"incuned loss" accounting modelin HI(AS 39.

The Company applies the new ECL modelto the following items:

(a) Financialassets designated at amortised cost (including Cash and short-term
funds and Placements with banks and otherfinancial institutions maturing
between one and twelve monilrs) and

(ii) Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income

The adoption of HKFRS I did not have a significant impact on ECL on the carrying
amounte of financial aseets as at 1 January 2018. For further details on the
Company's accounting policy for accounting for credit losses, see respective
accounting policy notes 2(i).

C. Transition

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of HKFRS t have been
applied retrospeclively, exoept as described below:

lnformation relating to oomparative periods has not been restated. Differences in
the carrying amounts of financial assets resulting from the adoption of HKFRS 9
are recognised in retained eamings and reserves as at 1 January 2018.
Accordingly, the information presented for 2017 continues to be reported under
HKAS 39 and thus may not be comparable with the cunent period.

The determination of the business model within which a financial asset is held has
been made on the basis of the facts and circumstianoes that existed at 1 January
2018 (the date of initial application of HKFRS 9 by the Company),

lf, at the date of initial application, the assessment of whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition would have involved
undue cost or effort, a lifetime ECL has been recognised for that financial
instrument.

15
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2 Significant accounting policiec (continued)

(ii) HKFRS 15, 'Revenue from contracts with customers"

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for recognising revonue and some costs
from contracts with cuetomers. HKFRS 15 replaces HI(AS 18, Revenue, which covered
revenue arising from sale of goods and rendering of services, and HI(AS 11, Construction
contracts, which specified the accounting for construction contracts.

HKFRS 15 also introduces additional qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements
which aim to enable users of the financial statements to understand the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with cilstomers.

The Company initially applied HKFRS 15 on 1 January 2018 retrospectively in accordance
with HI(AS 8 without any practical expedients. The timing or amount of the Company's
revenue and other income from contracts with customers was not impacted by the adoption
of HKFRS 15.

Details of the nature and effect of the changes on previous accounting policies are set out
below:

(A) Timing of revenue recognition

Previously, revenue arising from provision of services was recognised over time when
the risks and rewarde of ownership of the goods had pasaed to the customers.

Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised when the customer obtains oontrol of the
promised service in the contnact. This may be at a single point in time or over time
HKFRS 15 ldentifies the following three situations in which controlof the promised
service is regarded as being transfened over time:

a) When the customer simultaneously receives and @nsumes the benefits provided
by the entity's performance, as the entity performs;

b) When the entity's performance creates or enhances an asset (for example work
in progress) that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced;

c) When the entity'e performance does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the entity and the entity has an enforceable right to payment for performanoe
completed to date.

lf he contract terms and the entity's activities do not fall into any of these 3 situations,
then under HKFRS 15 the entity recognises revenue for the sale of that service at a
single point in time, being when control has passed. Transfer of risks and rewards of
ownership is only one of the indicators that is considered in determining when the
transfer of control occurs.

The adoption of HKFRS 15 does not have a significant impact on when he Company
recognises revenue,

16
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2 Slgnificantaccountingpolicies(continued)

(B) Disclosure of the estamated impact on the amounts reported in respect of the year
ended 31 December 201 8 as a result of the adoption of HKFRS 15 on 1 January 2018.

The Company has assessed that the impact of transition of HKFRS 15 did not have a
material impact on retained eamings and the related tax impact at 1 January 2018.

(iii) HK(|FR!C) 22, Foreign cuffency transactions and advance considemtion

This lnterpretation provides guidanoe on determining the date of the transaction" for the
purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset,
expensa or income (or part of it) arising from a transaction in which an entity rcceives or pays
advanoe consideration in a foreign curency,

The lnterpretation clarifies that "the date of the transaction" is the date on initial recognition of
the non-monetary asset or liability arising from the payment or receipt of advance
consideration. lf there are multiple payments or receipts in advane of recognising the
related ilem, the date of the transaction for each payment or receipt should be determined in
this way. The adoption of HK(|FRIC) 22 does not have any material impact on the financial
position and the financial result of the Company,

(d) lnterest income and axpense

A, Policy applicable from 1 January 2018

Calculation of intercst income and expense

The effective interest rate of a financial asset or financial liability is calculated on initial
recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability. ln calculating interest income and
expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when
the aseet ie not credit impaircd) or to the amortised cost of the liability. The effective interest
rate is revised as a result of periodic re+stimation of cash flows of floating rate instruments
to reflect movements in market rates of interest. The effective interest rate is also revised for
fair value hedge adjustments at the date amortisation of the hedge adjustment begins.

However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial
recognilion, interegt income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset. lf the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the
calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

For financial assets that were credit-impaired on initial recognition, interest income is
calculated by applying the credit-adjusted effec{ive interest rate to the amortised cost of the
asset. The calculation of interest income does not revert to a gross basis, even if the credit
risk of the asset improves.
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2 Significantaccountingpoliciea(continued)

Prasentation

B. Policy applicable priorto 1 January 2018

Effective interest rate

lnterest income calculated using the effective interest method presented in the statement of
profit or loss and OCI includes:

(i) interest on financialassets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost; and

(iD interest on debt instruments measured at FVOCI.

lnterest expense presented in the statement of profit or loss arises from financial liabilities
measured at amortised cost.

lnterest income and expense were recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest
method. The effective interest rate was the rate that exadly discounted the estimated future
cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability (or, wlrere appropriate, a shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset
or financial liability. When calculating the effedive interest nate, the Company estimated
future cash flows considering all contradual terms of the financial instrument, but not future
credit losses.

The calculation of the effediva interest rate included transaction costs and fees and points
paid or received that were an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs
included incremental costs that were directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a
financial asset or financial liability.

Presentation

lnterest income calculated using the effective interest method presented in the statement of
profit or loss and OCI includes:

(i) interest on financialaseets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost; and

(ii) interest on debt instrumenF measured at FVOCI

lnterest expense presented in the statement of profit or loss arises from financial liabilities
measured at amortised cost.
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2 Signlflcantaccountingpoliciea(continued)

(e) Fee and commission income and expense

Fee and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate on a
financial asset or financial liability are included in the effective interest rate (see note 2(d)).

Other fee and commission income - including investment management fees and sales
commission - is recognised as the related services are performed. lf a loan commitment is
not expected to result in the draw-down of a loan, then the related loan commitment fee is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the commitment period.

A contract with a customer that results in a recognised financial instrumant in the Company's
financial statements may be partially in the scope of HKFRS 9 and partially in the soope of
HKFRS 15. lf this is the case, then ffre Company first applies HKFRS 9 to separate and
measure the part of the contract that is in the scope of HKFRS 9 and then applies HKFRS 15
to the residual.

Other fee and commission expenses relate mainly to transaction and service fees, wfrich are
expensed as the services are received.

0 Divldend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive income is established. Usually, this
is the exdividend date for quoted equity securities. Dividends are presented in net trading
income, net income from other financial instruments at FVTPL or other revenue based on the
underlying classification of the equity investment.

From 1 January 2018, dividends on equily instruments designated as at FVOCI that clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment are presented in OCl.

(g) lnvaslment ln debt and egulty securftles

lnvestments are recognised / derecognised on the date the Company commits to
purchase/sellthe investments or they expire, lnvestment in debt securities is initially stated at
fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, exoept for those investments measured
at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) for which transaction costs are reoognised directly
in profit or loss. These investments are subsequently accounted for as follows, depending
on their classifi cation :

A. Policy applicable from 1 January 2018

I nv e stments oth e r th an e qu ity rnyesfrnents

Non-equity investments held by the Company are classified as fair value through profit or
loss (FVPL) when the contractual cash flows of the investment do not represent solely
payments of principal and interest. Changes in the fair value of the investment (including
interest) are recognised in profit or loss.
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

lf the contraclual cash flows of the non+quity investments held by the Company represent
solely paynrcnts of principaland interest. the investment would be classified as amortised
cost, as the Company does not invest in such instruments other than principally to collect
those contradual cash flows. lnterest income from investments canied at amortised cost is
calculated using the effective interest method (see note 2(d)), A loss allowance on
investrnents carried at amortised oost would be recognised with reference to credit losses
expected to arise on the instrument, discounted where the effect would be material, and
taking into account whether the credit risk of the instrument had increased significantly since
initial recognition.

Equity rnyestmenls

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL unless the equity investment is not
held for trading purposes and on initial recognition of the investrnent the Company makes an
irrevocable election to designate the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent cfianges in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income. Sucft
elections are made on an inetrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if the
investment meets the definilion of equi$ from the issuer's perspective. Where such an
election is made, the amount accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the
amount accumulated in the fair value reserye (non-recycling) is traneferred to retained
earninge. lt is not recycled through profit or loss.

Dividends from an investment in equity securities, inespective of whether classified as at
FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other income.

B. Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018

Av a il a b le-fo r- s a I e securdrbs

Other investments in securities, being those held for non-trading purposes, were classified as
available-for-sale securitiea. At the end of each reporting period the fair value was
remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in equity in the fair value res€rve (recycling).

Dividend income from equity securities and interest inoome from debt securities calculated
using the effective interest method \,vere recognised in profit or lose in accordanoe with the
policies set out in notes 2(f) and 2(g) respectively. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from changes in the amortised cost of debt securities were also recognised in profit
or loss.

When there was objective evidence that available-for-sale securities were impaired, the
cumulative loss that had been reoognised in the fair value reeerve (recycling) was
reclassified to profit or loss. The amount of the cumulative loss that was recognised in profit
or loss was the difference between the acquisilion cost (net of any principal repayment and
amortisation) and current fair value, less any impairment loss on that asset previously
recognised in profit or loss. Objective evidence of impairment included observable data that
came to the attention of the Company conoeming the underlying financial stability of the
investee as well as a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below
its cost.
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

lmpairment losses recognised in profit or loss in respect of available-for-sale equity securities
were not reversed through profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in the fair value of such
assets was recognised direc-tly in other comprehensive income.

lmpairment losses in respect of available-for-sale debt securities were reversed if the
subsequent increase in fair value can be objec{ively related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised. Reversals of impairment losses in such circumstances
were recognised in profit or loss.

ffien the investments were derecognised, the cumulativa gain or loss recognised in equity is
reclassifiod to profit or loss.

(h) Loane and rcceivables

A. Policy applicable from 1 January 2018

'Loans and receivables'caption in the statement of financial position include:

(i) loans and advances measured at amortised cost; they are initially measured at fair
value plua incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently at their amortised
cost using the effec{ive interest method less allowanoe for credit losses; and

(ii) other accounts measured at amortised cost.

B. Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018

Loans and receivables were nonderivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that were not quoted in an active market and that the Company did not intend to
sell immediately or in the near term.

Loans and advances to customers were classified as loans and reoeivables. Loans and
advances were initially measured at fair value plus incremental dired transaction costs, and
subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest method.

(l) Cradlt Impalrment

A. Policy applicable from I January 2018

The Company recognises loss allowances for ECL on cash and short-term funds,
placements with banks and other financial institutions maturing between one and twelve
months, financialassets designated at fair value through oUrer compreheneive income, and
financialassets designated at amortised cost. The Company measures loss allowanoes as
12-month ECL.

The Company considers a debt investment security to have low credit risk when its credit risk
rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of investment grade'. The Company
does not apply the low credit risk exemption to any other financial instruments.

12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events on a financial instrument
that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. Financial instruments for
which a 12-month ECL is recognised are referred to as 'Stage 1 financial instruments'.
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2 Significantaccounting pollcles(contlnued)

Life-time ECL are the ECL that result from all possible default events over the expected life
of the financial instrument. Financial instruments for which a lifetime ECL is recognised but
which are not credit-impaired are referred to as 'Strage 2 financial instruments'.

Measurcment of ECL

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:

(i) financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value
of all cash shortfalls; and

(i) financialassets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between
the gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in lhe stalement of financial position

Loss allowanes for ECL are prcsented in the statement of financial position as follows:

(a) financialassets measurcd at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying
amount of the assets; and

(ai) debt instruments measured at FVOCI: no loss allqrance is recognised in the statement
of financial position because the carrying amount of these assets is their fair value.
However, the loss allowance is disclosed and is recognised in the fair value reserve,

Wite+ff

Loans and debt eecurities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. This
is generally the case when the Gompany determines that the borrower does not have assets
or sour@s of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject
to the write-off. This assessment is canied out at the individual asset level. Recoveries of
amounte previously written off are included in 'impairment losses on financial instruments' in
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Financial assets that are written off could still be subjecl to enforcement activities in order to
comply with the Company's prooedures for recovery of amounts due.

B, Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018

Objective evidence of impairment

At each reporting date, the Company assessed whether there waa objective evidenoe that
financial assets not carried at FVTPL were impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets was 'impaired'when objective evidence demonstrated that a loss event had occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset(s) and that the loss event had an impact on the future
cash flows of the asset(s) that could be estimated reliably.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

Objective evidence trat a financial asset or group of assets is impaired includes observable
data that comes to the attention of the Company about the following loss events:

(i) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;

(ii) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

(iii) the Company granting to the bonower, for economic or legal r€asons ralating to the
bonowe/s financial difriculty, a concession that the lender would not otherwise
consider;

(av) it becoming probable hat the borrower will enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganization;

(v) the disappearan@ of an active market for that financial asset because of financial
dfficulties; or

(vi) observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future
cash flows from a group of financial assets sine the initial recognition of those assets,
although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individualfinancial assets in the
group, including:

- adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the group; or

nationalor localeconomic conditions that corelate wilh defaults on the aesets in
the group.

I ndividual or collective assessmenf

An individual measurement ol impairment was based on management's best estimate of the
present value of the cash flows that were expected to be received. ln estimating these cash
flows, management made judgements about a debto/s financial situation and the net
realisable value of any underlying collateral. Each impaired asset was asaessed on its
merits, and the workout strategy and estimate of cash flows considered recoverable were
independently approved by the Credit Risk function. Assets that are individually asgessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognisod are not
included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The collective allowance for groups of homogeneous loans was established based on
historical loss rate experience. Management applied judgement to ensure that the estimate
of loss anived at on lhe basis of historical information was appropriately adjusted to reflect
the economic conditions and product mix at the reporting date.

Measurcment of impairment

lmpairment losses on assets measured at amortised cost were calculated as the differenoe
between fre carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate. lmpairment losses on available-for-
sale assets were calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the fair
value,
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2 Significant accountlng pollclea (continued)

Reversa/ of impairment

(a) for assets measured at amortised cost: lf an event occuning after the impairment was
recognised caused the amount of impairment loss to decrease, then the decrease in
impairment loss was reverced through profit or loss.

(ii) for available-for-sale debt security: lf, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an
impaired debt securily increased and the increase could be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, then the impairment loss
was reversed through profit or loss; otherwise, any increase in fair value was
recognised through OCI

Any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity security
was always recognised in OCl.

Presentation

lmpairment losses were recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account
against loans and receivables or held-to-maturily investment securities. lnterest on the
impaired assets continued to be recognised through the unwinding of the discount.

lmpairment losses on available-for-sale investment securities were recognised by
reclassifying the losses accumulated in the fair value reserye in equity to profil or loss. The
cumulative loss that was reclassified from equity to profit or loes was the difference between
the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and amortisation, and the current fair
value, lesa any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss. Changes in
impairment attributable to the application of the effective interest method were reflected as a
component of intereet income.

Witeoff

The Company wrote off a loan or an investrnent debt security, either partially or in full, and
any related allowance for impairment losses, when Company determined that there was no
realistic prospect of recovery,

0 Flnanclal llabllites

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value net of transaction costs incuned, and
subsequently, carried at amortised cost. Any difference between proceeds net of transaction
costs and the redemption value is recognised in the stiatement of profit and loss and other
comprehensive incorne over the period of the financial liabilities using the effective interest
method.

(k) Offsetlingfinanclalinstrumenb

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously, The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and
must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency
or bankruptcy of the Company or the counterparty.
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2 Significantaccountingpolicies(continued)

(0 lmpairment of lnvestment In subsldlarles and non-flnanclat assets

Assets that have an indefinite usefullife are not subject to amortisation, but are at least
tested annually for impairment and are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cashgenerating
units). Assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

(m) Gain from dlsposal ol subsldiartes

With use of merger accounting, disposal of subsidiaries which are ultimately controlled by the
same party accounts for a @mmon control combination is that no acquisition has occurred
and there has been a continuation of the risks and benefits to the controlling party (or parties)
that existed prior to the combination. Use of merger accounting recognises this by
accounting for the combining entities or businesses as though the separate entities or
businesses were continuing as before.

This is on the basis that the parties are separate entities in their own right and that the
accounting for the transaction should be as if it had been carried out in an orderly manner
between market participants. Under this method, the book value of investment in subsidiary
is revalued to its fair value. Still, the difference between consideration transferred and the
book value of investment in subsidiary will be recorded in equity as distribution/contribution
from shareholder, while the difference between book value and fair value of subsidiary will be
recorded as profit or loss.

(n) Fixed assets

Fixed assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to he acquisition of
the items,

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a sepanate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item willflow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All
other repairs and maintenance are charged in the statement of profit and loss and other
comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incuned,

Depreciation of fixed assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate cost or
revalued amounts to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold improvements over the remaining period of lease

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3-5 years

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the
asset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(o) Current and deferred income bx

lncome tax for the year comprisee current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities. Cunent tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in
profit or loss except to the extent hat 0rey relate to items recognised in oher comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respeclively.

Cunent tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to
tax payable in respect of previous years.

Defened tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary differences
respectively, being the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and freir tax bases. Defened tax assets also arise from unused
tax loeseg and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the
asset can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temponary differences include those that will
arise from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those differcnces
relate to the s€lme taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
differenoe or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the defened tax asset can be
carried back or fomard. The same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
unused tiax losses and credils, that is, those differences arc taken into account if they relate
to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a
period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities are those
temporary differences arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial
recognilion of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and temporary differences relating to
investment in subsidiary to the extent that, in the case of taxable differcnces, the Company
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible difbrences, unless it is probable that they will
reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expecled manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Defened tax assets and
liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a defened tax asset is reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the
extent that it becomes probabb that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised when the
liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.
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2 Significantaccountingpolicies(continued|

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented
separately from each other and are not offset. Gunent tax assets are offset against current
tax liabilities, and defened tax assets against defened tax liabilities, if the Company has the
legally enforceable right to set off cunent tax ass€ts against cunent tax liabilities and the
following additional oonditions are met:

in the case of current tax asaets and liabilities, the Company intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and seftle the liability simultaneously: or

in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which significant amounts of
defened tax liabililies or assets are expected to be settled or re@ver€d, intend to
realise the cunent tax assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or
realise and settle simultaneously.

(p) Employee beneftts,

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long-service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. An accruel is made forthe estimated liability for annual leave and
long-service leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet
date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and matemity or patemity leave are recognised when
the absences occur.

(ii) Pensionobligations

The Company contributes to defined contribution rctirement schemes under Mandatory
Provident Fund ("MPF") schemes that are available to the Company's employees.
Contributions to the sdremes by the Company and employees are calculated in accordanc,e
with the MPF rules for MPF schemes. The retirement benefit scheme costs are charged to
the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income as incurred and represent
contributions payable by the Company to the schemes.

The aesets of the schemes are held in independently-administered funds separate from
those of the Gompany,

(q) Ptovisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made, Where
the Company expects a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance
contract, the reimbursernent is recognised as a separate asset but only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain.
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(r) Translaton of forclgn cunencles

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Company's entities are measured
usang the cunency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates ("the
functional currency"). The financialstatements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is
the Company's functional and presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional cunency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of foreign curency transactions are recognised directly in the
statement of profil and loss and other comprehensive income. Assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign cunendes are translated at the closing rate at the balance sheet
date. The differences arising from translation are recognised in the statement of profit and
loss and other comprehensive income except for translation differences on non-monetary
items such as debit securities classified as availaHe for-sale securities are included in the
other comprehensive income, and accumulated in investment revaluation reserve in equity.

(s) Operafng lease

Leaees in which a significant portion of the rieks and rewards of ownership are retained by
the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of
any incentives reoaiv€d from the lessor) ar€ expensed in the stiatement of profit and loss and
other comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

(t) Contingent liabilities and contingenl asgefs

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose
existence willonly be confirmed by the occurrence or non{ccurrence of one or mone
unoertain future events not wholly within the control of the Company. lt can also be a
present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not probable
that outflow of economic resources will be reguired or the amount of obllgation cannot be
measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised as a provision but is disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is
probable, it willthen be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will
be confirmed only by the occunence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain events not
wholly within the control of the Company.

A contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements
when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. When the inflow is virtually certain, it will
be recognised as an asset.
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2 Significantaccountingpoliciee(contlnued)

(u) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with
banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liqukl investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value.

ln the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise balanoes with original
maturity less han three monhs from the date of acquisition, including cash and balances
with banks and other financial instihrtions.

(v) Relaledpartr'es

(a) A person, or a close member of that person'8 family, is related to fre Company if that
person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Company;

(ii) has significant influenoe over the Company; or

(iii) is a member of Ure key management personnel of the Company or the
Company's parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Company if any of the following oonditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Company are members of the Bame group (which means hat
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or
joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other enti$ is an associate of
the third enti$.

(v) The entity is a postemployment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Company or en entily related to the Company.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a pereon identified in (a).

(vii) A pereon identified in (aXi) has significant influence over the entity or is a
member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the
entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, providee key
management personnel seruices to the Company or to the Company's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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2 Significant accounting policiea (contlnued)

(w) Flduclary actvitles

The Company commonly acts in a fiduciary capacity that results in the holding or placing of
assets on behalf of individuale and oher instilutions. These assets and income arising
thereon are excluded from the financial statements, as they are not assets of the Company

3 Financial and oporational risk management

The Company's activities are principally related to the use of financial instruments. lt accepts
deposits from customers, seeks to earn interest margins by investing these funds in high-
quality assets and obtaining above-average margins through lending to commercial
bonowers.

The Company's activities expose it to a variety of ltnancial risks: credit risk, market risk
(including cutrency risk and interest rate risk) and liquidity risk. lnformation related to the risk
the Company is exposed to and its management and controlof the primary risk associated
with the use of flnancial instruments are set out below:

3.1 Credit rid<

The Company takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk arising from the possibility
that bonowing customers on counterparties in a transaction may default on their payment
obligations. lt arises from the lending, other activities undertaken by the Company.

The Company has no significant concentrations of credil risk on individual customer. Due to
nature of the business of the Company, the Company has geographical concentration of
advances to customers (Note 3.1 (b)(ii)). Policies and procedures for credit evaluation,
approval, documentation, implementation, safekeeping, servicing, administration, collection,
and impairment allowanoes are formalised and approved by the Board of Directors of the
Company. Compliance with these policies/procedures is independently reviewed by the
Company's internalauditors with formal reporting on the results of examinations of Board of
Directors of the Company. Risk Management Committee ("RMC') is responsible for the
monitoring of the Company's credit risk.
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3 Financial and operational rick management (continued)

(a) Maximum exposures to credit risk before collateral held or other enhancements are
summarised as follows:

2018
HK$'000

On-balance sheet assets

2017
HK$'000

90,354142,594

173,163
19,285

Short-term funds
Placements with banks and other financial institutions

maturing between one and twelve months
Financial assets designated at amortised cost
Held-to+naturity securities
Advancas and other accounts
Financial assets designated at fair value through other

comprehensive income
Avai lable-for-sale securities

188,005

51,274

69,911

19,491
23,582

104,230

Off-balance sheet ltems

Loan commitment and contingent liabilities 8,847 31,453

465,O74 457,115

The maximum exposure is a worst cas€ soenario of credit risk exposure to the Company
without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements. For on{alance
sheet assets, the maximum exposure to credit risk equals their carrying amount. For loan
commitment and other credil related liabilities, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the full
amount of the committed facilities.

The nature of the collateral held and other credit enhancements and their financial effect to
the different classes of the Company's financial assets are as follows:

Short-term funds and placements wilh banks and other financial institutions maturing
between one and twelve months

These exposures are generally considered to be low risk due to the nature of the
counterparties and take into account of credit quality. Collateral is generally not sought
on these assets,

(ia) Financial assets designated at amortised cost and Financialassets designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income

Collateral is generally not sought on debt securities.

(i)
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3 Financial and op€rational risk management (continued)

(iii) Advances and other ac@unts, loan commitments and contingent liabilities

The generalgpes of collateralare investment securities and cash deposits. Advances
and other accounts, loan commitments are collateralised to the extent considered
appropriate by the Company taking account of the risk assessment of individual
exposures. The advances to customers are fully collateralised at all time. The
Company monitors the market value of the investment securities and ensure that the
loan to value ratio is within pre-set limits. The components and nature of contingent
liabilities and commitments are disclosed in Note 23. Regarding the commitments that
are unconditionally cancellable without prior notice, the Company would assess the
necessity to withdraw the credit line in case where the credit quality of a borrower
deteriorates. Accordingly, these commitments do not expose the Company to
significant credil risk.

(b) Gross advances to customers

(i) Gross advances by customer type

Personal loans 43,407 17,754

As at balance sheet date, there are no loans and advances to customers which are past due
or impaired. There are no rescheduled advances as at 31 December 2018 and2O17.

(ia) Geographical concentration of gross advances to customers

The following geographical analysis of gross advances to customers is based on the country
of residence of the counterparties, after taking into account the transfer of risk in respect of
such advances where appropriate.

2018
HK$'000

2017
HK$',000

2017
HK$'000

17,7yThe Philippines

2018
HK$',000

43,407
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3 Flnanclalsnd operedonal rlsk management (contlnued)

(c) Debt securifres that arc neitlrcr pact drc nor lmpircd

The table below presents an analysis of debt secudties by rating ag€ncy deeignatlon at
31 December, bas€d on the Moody's natings or their equivalant that the Company has uEed
in relation to credit dsk exposures. Referto Notes 13-14 and 16-17 forthe analysis on the
debt securities by type of iseuera.

2018

Aaa
Aa1 to Aa3
41 to A3
BelowA3 and above C

2017

Aaa
Aa1 to Aa3
A1 to A3
Below A3 and above C

Financial assets
designated at

fair value
through other

comprahensive
income

HK$'000

10,110
34,712
25,089

69,911

Available-for-
sale sacuntbs

HK$',000

7,789
14,218
41,187
41,036

Financial assefs
designated at

amorilsed cpst
secunfies
HK$'000

15,285

4,000

19,285

Held-Io-maturity
secunlies
HK$'000

15,458

4,033

Total
HK$'000

15,285
10,110
34,712
29,089

89,196

Total
HK$'000

23,247
14,218
41,187
45,069

104,230 19,491

There are no overdue debt securities as at 31 Deoember 2018 (2017: nil).

123,721

33



BPI lntematilnal Finance Limiled
Fhanclal statemenls for tllB Wu endcd 31 DccentDor 2018

3 Flnanclal and operational risk management (contlnued)

3.2 Market riak

The Company takes on exposure to market risk, which is the risk that the fair value or fufure
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prioes.
Market risks arise from open positions in interest rate, currency and equity products, all of
which are exposed to general and specific market movements and changes in the levelof
volatility of market rates or prices such as interest rates, credil spreads, forelgn exchange
rates and equity prices.

The Company's exposures to market risk for the non-trading portfolios primarily arise from
the interest rate management of the Company's aseets and liabilities. Non-trading portfolios
also consiet of foreign exchange and credit risks arising from the Company's Financial assets
designated at amortised cost and available-for-sale investments. Analysis of the Company's
currency risk and interest rate risk are stated in Note 3.2(a) and 3.2(b) below, respectively.

(a) Currency rlsk

The Company takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign
currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. Except to cover
transactional requirements, the Company does not hold positions for trading purposes.

The tables below summarise the Company's exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk
as at 31 December. lncluded in 0re tables are the Company's asaets and liabilities at
carrying amounts in Hong Kong dollar equivalent, categorised by the original currency.

2018

Asssts

Cash and short-torm funds
Placements with banks and other financial

institutims maluring between one and
twelve monlhg

Financial assels designated at amortised
cost

Advanoes and other accounts
Financial assels designated al fair value

thrwgh olher comprehensive incorne
Fixed assets

Total assets

LleHlMec

Deposits lrorn cuslorners
Other payables

Toial liatilities

Net on-balance sheet position

Credit commitments

8,372 '131,953

21,397 127,852

19,285
46,962

68,791

4,245

2,269 142,5U

23,914 173,163

19,285
51,274

HKD
HK$'(nO

USD
HKS'(nO

Other
HK$'000

67

1,120

Total
HK$'000

69,911
224224

34,238 394.843

257
3,638

261,006
il

27,370

26.753
2

456,451

288,016
3.694

3,895 261,060 26.755 291.710

30,343 133,783 1il,74'l

34

8,847

615

8,847



3 Financial and operational risk management (continued)
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2017

Acrets

Cash and shoil-term funds
Placgnenta with banks and other financial

instiMims maturing belween one and
twelve monlhs

Held-tomaturity securilies
Advancas and other accounts
AvailaHe-for-eale s€curities
lnvestment in subsidiary
Fixed ess€lg

Total assels

Llebllitec

Deposits frofii cuEtqnef s
Otha payables

47J27 349.870

230,263
7,45

29.335 426,332

HKD
HK$'000

25.552

17,407

3,098

5m
170

USD
HK$'000

62,982

144,039
19,491
20,384

102,974

Otr,er
HKS',000

1,420

26,559

100
1,256

Tolal
HKS'000

90,354

188,005
19,491
23,fiz

104.230
5{n
170

257
,5441

29,',173
3

259,693
8,992

Total liatilities

Ne{ on-balarce sh6et posfion

Credit commitmenB

1.801 237.708 29,176 268,685

45,326 112J62 159 157.U7

31,453 31,453

(b) Intcrest rafa risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk
that the value of a financial instrument willfluctuate because of change in market interest
rate8.

The Company takes on expoeure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of
market interest retes on both its fair value and cash flow risks. lnterest margins may increase
as a result of such changes but may reduce losses in the event that unexpected movement
arise. The Ass€ts and Liabilities Committee ("ALCO") regularly meets to review historical
information and make forecasts. Once a month, a formal report of average nates of interest
income and expenses are presented to the senior management of the Company.
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Financial and operrtional rlak management (continued)

The tables below summariee the Company's exposure to interest rate risk as at 31

December. lncluded in the tables are the Company's aesetE and liabilities at canying
amounts, categorised by the earlier of oontractual repricing or matudty dates (other then non-
interest bearing balanoes).
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stErlis€d oorl
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Flmrpd saeb de3ignEled Bt
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cdnpl.ChmrlF lncome

Fir€d e3s€l3

Totrl EaBels

U.blld6
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HKt'000
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HKlO00
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3 Financial and operational risk management (continued)

(c) ttlarket risk sensitivity anatysis

(a) Cunency risk

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017 , the Company's foreign currency exposure is
mainly to US dollar. As HK dollar and USD dollar are pegged, it is expacted that any
movements in ttre exchange rate will have minimal impact to the earnings of the
Company.

(ii) lnterest rate risk

The Company's interest rate risk mainly arises from the timing differences in the
repricing of interest bearing assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet positions.

The Company is principally exposed to HK dollar, US dollar, and Australian dollar in
terms of interest rate risk. At 31 December 2018, if HK dollar, US dollar, and Australia
dollar market interest rates had been 50 basis point lower/higher with other variables
held constant, earnings of the Company overthe next 12 months would be
reduced/increased by HK$229,349 (201 7: HK$56,394).

3.3 Llquldlty rlsk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company is unable to meet its payment obligations
associated with its financial liabilities when they fall due and to replace funds when they are
withdrawn. The consequence may be the failure to meet obligations to repay depositors and
other creditors and fulfil commitments to lend.

(a) Liquidlty rlsk managament process

The liquidity condition of the Company is monitored on a daily basis by the Company's chief
executive. The balance between liquidity and profitability is carefully considered but the
former is given higher priority in case of conflicts in meeting targets or regulatory
requirements. The liquidity managemont processes are as below:

Day-today funding. managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that
requirernents can be met,

Performing periodic liquidity stress testing on Company'e liquidity position by assuming a
faster rate of withdrawals in its deposit base.

Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable assets that can easily be liquidated as
protection against any unforeseen interruption to cash flows.

Monitoring liquidity gaps against internal and regulatory reguirements.
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3 Flnanclsl end operetlonal rllk management (conUnued)

(b) Natudty analysls

The tableE below analyse aeeets and liabilities of the Company as at 31 December into
rclevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at balanoe sheet date to ilre
contnactual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in ilre tablea below ere the approximation
of the contradual undiscounted cash flowe, whsreas the Company manages the inherent
liquidity risk based on expected undiscounted cash flows.
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3 Financial and opentonal risk management (continuedf

(c) Olf-balancs shcel ftems

Loen commitments

The contractualamounts of the Company's off-balance sheet linancial instruments as at
31 December 2018 that commit it to extend credit to customers and other facilities amounbd
to HK$8,846,951 (2017: HK$31,453,240) and mahrre wihin 1 year.

3,1 Falrvalue of flnanclalassetl and llabllffies

(a) Financial Inctument canied at otlpr Oran Fiir valtn

The financial aEsats and liabilitieE not preaented at fair value in the Company's stetement of
financialposition are estimated as follonrs:

0 Balancea and placements with banks

The maturities of these financialaaEets are wiilrin one year and he carrying vElue
approximates fair value.

(iD Advanes and other accounts

The matudties of mogt of the advances and other accountrs are within one year and
their carrying value approximates fair value.

(ii| Deposits from cugtomens

Allthe deposits fiom customers mature within one yearfrom balance eheet date and
their carrying value approximates fair value.
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3 Financial and operational risk management (contlnued)

(av) Other payables

The carrying amount of other payables, whidr are normally repayable within one year,
approximate to their fair value.

The following table summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of the financial assets
and liabilities, apart from those disclosed above, not presented on the Company's statement
of financial position at their fair value.

The Company

Financial assets designated at
amortised cost

Carnrino value
2018 2017

HK9'000 HK$',000

19,285

Fair value
2018

HK$'000

19,223

2017
HK$'000

Carruino value Fair vahn
2018

HK$',000
2017

HK$',000
2018

HK$'000
2017

HKS'000

H e ld -to-maturity securities 19,491 19,474

Fair value for financial asseF designated at amortised cost is based on quoted market prices
or broker/ dealer price quotations. Where this information is not available, fair value has
been estimated using quoted market prices for securities with similar credit, maturity and
yield chara c{eristics.

(b) Financial instumenb measured at fair valtre

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
of financial assets and liabilities traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives
and trading securities) are based on quoted market prices at fie close of trading on the
reporting date. The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an aclive market
(for example, over-the-counter market) is detennined by using valuation techniques. These
valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and
rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. lf all significant inputs required to fair
value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2,
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3 Financial and operational risk management (continued)

The following table presents the fair value of the Company's financial instruments measured
at the end of the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair
value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a
fair value measurement is classified is determined with reference to the observability and
significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e, unadjusted quoted
prices in ac{ive markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e, observable inputs
which failto meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable
inputs are inputs for which market data are not available.

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs

The following table presents the Company's financial assets and liabilities that are measured
at fair value at 31 Deoember 2018.

I
Level 1

HK$'000
Flnanclalassets
Financial assets designated at fair

value through other
comprehensive income

- Debt securities

Total

39,016 30,895

Level 2
HK$'000

Level 3
HK$'000

Total
HK$'000

69,911

39,016 30,895 69,911

2017
Level 1

HK$'000
Level 2

HK$'000
Level 3

HK$'000
Total

HK$'000
Flnanclalassets
Available-for-sale securities
- Debt securities 65,196 39,034 104,230

Total 65,196 39,034 104,230

Level 1 fair value of debt securities have been determined based on regular trading activity
on exchange and active over the counter broker market. Level 2 fair values of debt
securities have been determined based on quotes from brokers supported by observable
inputs,

41



BPI lnlemailonal Ftnffico Linlled
Fharciat slalenenls lq llp WU onfu 31 Decent&or 2018

3 Financial and operational risk management (continued)

3.5 Captlal management

The Company's objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the
"equity" on the face of statement of financial position, are:

. To comply with the capital requirements under the Banking (Capital) Rule of the Hong
Kong Banking Ordinance;

To safeguard the Company's ability to continue as a going concern so that it can
continue to provide retums for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders;

To support the Company's stability and growth;

To allocate capital in an efficient and risk based approach to optimize risk adjusted
return to the shareholdere; and

. To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

For the Company's funding requirements, it relies principally on time deposits ftom
customers and parent bank as well as intemally generated capilal. The Company adopts a
prudent policy on capital management and the funding position is monitored and reviewed
regularly to ensur€ it is at a reasonable cost.

The Hong Kong Banking Ordinance requires each authorized institution to maintain a ratio of
total regulatory capitalto the risk-weighted essets (the capilaladequacy ratio) at or above the
minimum ol Eo/o.

During the year ended 31 December 2O18 and 2017 , the Company complied with the capital
requirements under ffre Hong Kong Banking Ordinance.

3.6 Openllonal rlsk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed intemal processes,
people and systems, or from extemal sources. Operational risk management (ORM)
involves the management of all business procasses, employees and manualand automated
systems to minimise the adverse effects of these risks.

The Company has put in place an intemal control process that requires the eetablishment of
policies and proedures for key business activilies. Proper segregation of duties and
authorisation are the fundamentalprinciples followed by the Company, lt is the duty of every
employee to manage the risks inhercnt to his fundions. The supervisors have the primary
responsibility to monitor compliance with existing ORM policies, standards, guidelines and
procedures,

Business continuity plans are in place to support business operations in the event of
emergency or disaster.

o
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4 Critical accountlng eatlmates and assumptiona

The Company makes certain assumptions and estimates in the process of applying the
Company's accounting policies. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Judgements

lnformation about judgements made in applying accounting polacies that have the most
significant effecls on tre amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in the
following notes.

- Applicable to 2018 only:

Note 2(c)(i): classification of financial assets: assessment of the business model within which
the assets are held and assessment of whether the contractual terms of the financial asset
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Note 2(cXi): establishing the criteria for determining whether credit risk on the financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition, determining methodology for
incorporating fonrard-looking information into measurement of ECL and seledion and
approval of models used to measure ECL.

(b) Assumption and estmatlon uncertalntes

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of
resulting in a material adjustment in the year ended 31 December 2018 ie included in the
following notes.

- Applicable to 2018 only:

Note 2(cXi): impairment of financial instruments: determining inputs into the ECL
measurement model, including incorporation of fonruard-looking information.

- Applicable to 2018 and 2017:

Note 2(t): recognition and measurement of contingencies: key assumptions about the
likelihood and magnitude of an outflow of resources.

5 lntereat income

lnterest income on investments in securities
Interest income on placements with banks
lnterest income from advances to customers

2018
HK$',000

2,360
5,074
1,083

2017
HK$'000

2,497
2,916

437

43
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6 Other operating income

Service fees and commission income
Foreign exchange gaans from customer transactions
Net gain from dealing in securities
Net gain on redemption/disposal of Available-for-sale

securities
Dividend income
Other income

7 Gain from disposal of subsidiary

Staff costs:
-Wages and salaries
- Pension costs - defined contribution plans
- Other benefits and allowance
Rental of premises
Depreciation (Note 19)
Auditor's remuneration
Telecommunication and postiage
Other operating expenses

Staff costs include directors'emoluments (Note 9).

2018
HK$'000

17,039
199

3.492

15,000

2017
HK$'000

14,720
882

4.946

27
I
2

35,730

2018
HK$',000

20,578

2017
HK$'000

8

Gain from disposal of subsidiary 19,100

19,100

The Company transferred its 10006 ordinary share of BPI Remittanoe Centre (HK) Limited to
its ultimate holding company, Bank of Philippines lslands on24 October 2018 in specie
distribution of dividend with consideration of HKD19.6 million. Board of the Company passed
a resolution on 28 August 2018 to approve the disposaland confirmed the net asset value of
BPI Remittance Centre (HK) Limited is HKD19.6 million. The cost of investment in
subskiiary, BPI Remittance Centre (HK) Limited is HKD500,000, HKDl9.1 million was
recognised as gain from disposal of subsidiary through Profit and Loss for the reporting
period.

Operating expenses

2018
HK$'000

16,71 1

453
3,157
4,O44

279
980

1,149
6,259

2017
HK$'000

10,817
318

2,989
3,813

943
877
816

4,008
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9 Directots'emoluments

Directors' emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of lnformation about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Salaries
Employe/s contribution to a retirement scheme

2018
HK$'000

2,217
18

2017
HK$'000

1,535

2,235

l0 lncome tax expense

(a) lncome bx in the strfement of proftt orloss and other comprehensive income
reprcsenls.'

2018
HK$',000

Write-off of defened tax assets recognised in prior
years

1,535

2017
HK$',000

223

Net charge to profit or loss 223

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the year ended 31 December
2018 as the Company sustained a loss for taxation purpose for the cunent year.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was
calculated at 16.5% (2017: 16.50/6) of the estimated assessable profits for the year.

The Company has not recognised its tax loss of approximately HK$8,377,000 (2O17:
approximately HK$1,072,000) as it is not probable that the future taxable profits against
which the losses can be utilised will be available. The tax losses do not expire under current
tax legislation.
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l0 lncome tax expense (continued)

(b) Reconcllhflon beJvecn bx expente and rccountng prof,t at appllcable ts,rc ralcs.'

2018 2017
HK$',000 HK$'000

Profrt before taxation 26,984 (9)

celculated at a taxation rate of 16.5016 (20'17:16.5%)
Tax effect of non-taxable income
Tax effect of nondeductible expenses
Tax loes not recognised
WritEoff of defer€d tax agsets reoognised in prior

yea]E

4,452
(5,704)

46
1,206

(1)

'a

223

223

(c) ThehxctodttrclatlngtoconponenFof otherconpreltengive income lsasfollows,'

2018 2017
8pllorrlar

HK$'O0
Iax dcDfl
HK8'000

A/irrb(
HK$',000

(2e0)

8pltc,ata(
HK9000

7ar dcDil
HKS'000

Afutb(
HKi',000

Cha4c in valua dfinanciel rsde
dclgnetrd at fair ralue thrwgh
oorcr comprehenchn lncome

Olhar comprahqrca$ lncomc

DdcnBd ts $3€t(hbllllies)

Chrnge in valuc d Avalabl+for-
3alccacudtl.3

Olhc compr*lensivs ancofii€

Deferred t.x accd/(llabtftlco)

8€fo'l .ax rar dablt
HK$000 HK0'000

(290)

(2s0)(2so)

?ol8 2017
AfWEt
HKi'(x)0

Aofur" tax
HK8',flro

7ar dabfi
HK0'000

A,brbt(
HK0'000

(260)22(2,,21

- (2f,zl 22 (260)

n,
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11 Cash and short-term funds

Cash and balances with banks and other
financial institutions

Placements with banks and otherfinancial institutions
maturing within one month

Credit impairment for cash and short-term funds

Plaoements with banks and otherfinancial ingtitutions
- maturing between 1 and 3 monhs
- maturing between 3 and 12 months
Credit impairment for placements with banks and other

financial ingtitutione maturing between one and
twelve months

13 Financlal aggete deelgnated at amortlged cogt

Financial assets designated at amortised cost
- List€d outside Hong Kong and iesued by banks and

other fi nancial institutions
- Ligted outslde Hong Kong and issued by oentral

government
Credit impairment for financial assets designated at

amortis€d cogt

Fair value of listed securities

2018
HK$'000

56,904

85,906
(216)

2017
HK$'000

38,121

52,233

142,594 90,354

12 Placements with banks and other linancial institutioru maturing betvueen one
and twolve months

2018
HK$',000

173,388

(2251

2017
HK$',000

169,091
18,914

173,163 188,005

2018
HK$',000

4,0'.17

15,285

(171

2017
HK$'000

19,285

19,223
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14 Held-to-maturitysscudties

Held-to-maturity securities
- Listed outside Hong Kong and issued by banks and

other financial institutions
- Listed outside Hong Kong and issued by oentral

govemment

Fair value of lisbd securities

15 Advanceg and otheraccounts

Advances to customerE
other accounta

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income

- Listed outside Hong Kong and issued by banks and
other fi nancial institutione

- Listed inside Hong Kong and issued by banks and
other fi nancial institutions

- Listed outEide Hong Kong and issued by corporate
entities

- Listed inside Hong Kong and issued by corporate
entities

- Ligted outeide Hong Kong and issued by central
govemment

2018
HK$'000

2017
HK$',000

15,459

0334

19,491

19,474

19,474

2018
HK$'000

43,407
7,ffi7

2017
HK$'000

17,7U
5,828

51,274 23,582

l6 Financial assets deeignated at falr value through other comprohensive income

2018
HK$'000

42,443

1'1,o74

1,850

14,54

2017
HK$'000
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17 Avallable-for-gale securltleg

Ava ilable-for-sale secu rities
- Listed outside Hong Kong and issued by banks and

other financial institutions
- Listed inside Hong Kong and issued by banks and

other financial institntions
- Listed outside Hong Kong and issued by corporate

entities
- Listed inside HorE Kong and issued by corporate

entities
- Listed outside Hong Kong and issued by central

government

2018
HK$'000

2017
HK$',000

61,615

11,069

2,OO2

6,286

23,258

104,230

18 Subaidiary

The Company doea not hold any subsidiaries on 31 December 2018. BPI lnternational
Finance Limited transfened its 100% ordinary share of BPI Remittance Centre (HK) Limited
to its ultimate holding company, Bank of Philippines lslands on 18 Odober 2018.

The following is a list of the principal subsidiary on 31 December 2O17:

Name

BPI Remittance Centre (HK)
Limited

Proporlion
of ordinary

shares
directly held

by the
Cantpany

(%)

'100,0006

Propoftkn
of ordinary

shares held
by the

Company
(%)

100.00

Prcportion
of odinary

siares heid
by non-

controlling
lnleresfs

(%)

Proprtbn of
preference

sharcs held
by the

Cwnpany
(%)
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{9 Flred errc0r

At 1 Jrnuary2017
Cost
Accuntuhbd depmtiation

ll€t book armmt

Ycar cndcd 3l Drcembcr 2017
Opnilrg net bookamount
Addtione
Drpndetron dmlgc

Cloelng ncil book amrnt

At31 De6mber20l7and
I J*rtnry 201E

Cogt
Accumuffid depndation

N€t bod( ammt

r/ear endcd 31 Deember 2018
Op€nirg net bookamount
Addilftme
Depmchtion draqe

Cloehg Fr€t book amunt

At 31 Deember20l8
Colt
Aocumuhd dcpruclaton

Ncl book armrnt

Leawhffi
httprcticlnwtfc,

HKl',000

2,836
(2,1801

Fumilua,
fulures eN
equfimetil

HK$'000

1,411
(1,085)

Totd
HK$'000

4,MT
(3,273)

44E 328 774

4{8
180

(62E)

326
159

(315)

774
339

(B{3)

1?0 170

2,816
(2,81€)

1,571
(1,401)

4,387
(4,2171

170 170

;
(3)

170
32E

(27€)

170
333

(27e)

2 ?f22 2U

2,&ll
(2,819)

1,899
(1,677)

4,720
(4,4981

2 2?'2 224
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20 Share capital

Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid

At 1 January2017,31 December2017 and
31 December2018 75,000 75,000

ln accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, the ordinary shares
of the Company do not have a par value.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time
and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank
equally with regard to the Company's residual assets.

21 Reserves

The Company's r€serves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the staternent of changes in equity on page g of the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2018, an amount of HK$1 ,691,649(2017: HK$1,691,649) was earmarked
from retained eamings as a regulatory reserve. The regulatory reserve is maintained to
satisfy the provisions of the Hong Kong Banking Ordinance for prudential supervision
purposes. Movements in the reserve, if any, are made direc{ly through retained eamings
following consultation with the Hong Kong Monetary Authority.

22 Lease commitments

At 31 December the future aggregate minimum lease payment under non-cancellable
operating leases in respect of the premises is as follows:

Number of
shares

(thousands)
Share capital

HK$'000

2017
HK$'000

9,000
4,271

13.271

2018
HK$'000

4,49
122

No later than one year
Later than one year and no later than five years

4,571
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23 Off-balanco sheet oxposures

Contingent liabilities and commitments

The following is a summary of the contrac'tual amounts of each significant class of contingent
liability and commitment as at 31 December:

Commitment
Loan commitments with an original maturity of under 1

year or which are unconditionally cancellable without
prior notice

Loan commitments with an original maturity of under 1

year

Transfer of subsidiary to ultimate holding company
System services charge from ultimate holding

company

2018
HK$'000

3,639

5,208

2017
HK$'000

18,872

12,591

8,U7 31,453

24 Loans to officerc

As at 31 December 2018, there is no loan made to officers as pursuant to section 78 of
Schedule 11 to the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), with reference to
section 1618 of the predecessor Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 32).

25 Related party transactions

Following transadion was canied out with related parties:

(a) Traneaction amounl during ilre year with rclated parties:

2018
HK$'000

2017
HK$'000

500

648624

1124 648

System service charge represents charges for usage of ultimate holding company's systems
and various processes outsourced to BPI GlobalServices. Charges are fixed fee per month,
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26 Related party trangacdonr (contlnued)

(b) Year-ornd balances wlth tellatad paftie:

8Pl lnlcaaatlomi Fhanu Llmt d
Fhancialsfubrnants fortlpfr enM 3l DemnfurXtlS

2017
HKS',000

2017
HKS',000

7,120

Bank balance held in ultimate holding oompany 394 3,211

The bank balanoe held with the ultimate holding oompany urfiich is a bank in the Republic of
the Philippines. The balanoe are unsecured in nahlre and interest{earing at commercial
rate.

(c) Keymanagementcompensation:

Key management includes dircclor, heads of departments. The compensation paid or
payable to key management for employee services is shown below:

2018
HKS',000

2018
HK$'000

Salaries and other short-term employee benefitg 8,348

Director compensation is also dlsclosed ln note 9 to the financial statements.
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26 Note to the cash flow statement

Reconciliation of profit before taxation to net cash inflow from operating activities:

2018
HK$'000

Profit before taxation 26,984

BPI lntemational Finance Limited
Ficarrcia/ statenpnts lor the year ertldrd 3l Dcca.mber 2Ol8

2017
HK$'000

(e)

(44,643) 50,957

27 lmmediate and ultimate holding company

The immediate and ultimate holding company is Bank of the Philippine lslands, a bank
incorporated and listed in the Republic of the Philippines. This entity produces financial
statements available for public use.

28 Possible impact of amendments, new etandards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2018

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of
amendments, new standards and interpretations which ara not yet effective for the year
ended 31 December 2018 and which have not been adopted in these financial statements
These include the following which may be relevant to the Company.

Effective for
accounting peiods

beginning on or after

Adjustments for:
Net interest income
Depreciation of fixed assets
Credit impairment
Dividend income
Net gain on disposalof Financial assets designated

at fair value through other comprehensive income
Net gain from disposal of subsidiary

Changes in working capital:
(lncrease)/decnease in placements with banks and

other financial institutions wilh original maturity
over three monUrs

(lncrease)/decrease in advances and other accounts
lncrease in time deposits from customers
(Decrease)/increase in other payables

Cash (used in)/generated from operating activities

HKFRS 16, Leases

HK(IFR|C) 23, Uncerlainty over income tax treatments

Annual lmprovements to HKFRSS 2015-2017 Cycle

(5,818)
279
632

(15,000)

(1e.100)

(31 ,411)
(21,535)
25,624
(5,298)

(3,994)
943

(1)

(27)

23,734
3,528

21,225
5,558

1 January 2019

1 January 2019

1 January 2019
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28 Poggible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretatione iseued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued)

The Company as in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these
amendments, new standards and interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far the Company has identified some aspec{s of HKFRS 16 which may have
a significant impact on ilre financial statements. Further details of the expected impacts are
discussed below. While the assessment has been substantially completed for HKFRS 16,
the actual impact upon the initial adoption of the standard may differ as the assessment
completed to date is based on the information currently available to the Company, and
further impacts may be kJentified before the standard is initially applled in the Company's
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019. The Company may also ciange
its accounting policy elections, including the transition options, untilthe standard is initially
applied in he financial statements.

HKFRS 16, Leases

As disclosed in note 2(s), cunently the Company classifies leases into finance leases and
operating leases and accounts for the lease arrangements differently, depending on the
classification of the lease. The Company enters into some leases as the lessor and others
as the lessee.

HKFRS 16 is not expected to impact significantly on the way that the Company accounts for
its rights and obligations under a lease when it is the lessor under the lease. However, once
HKFRS 16 is adopted, the Company will no longer distinguish between finance leases and
operating leases when it is the lessee under the lease. lnstead, subject to practical
expedients, the Company will be required to account for all leases of more than 12 months in
a similar way to current finance lease accounting.

The application of the new accounting model is expected to lead to an increase in both
agsets and liabilities and to impact on the timing of the expense recognition in the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income over the period of the lease.

HKFRS 16 is effective for annualperiods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The
Company plans to elect to use the modified retrospective approach for the adoption of
HKFRS 16 and will reoognise the cumulative effect of initialapplication as an adjustment to
the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2019 and will not restate the comparative
information. As disclosed in nole 22, at 31 December 2018 the Company's future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases amount to approximately
$4,571,000 (2017: approximately HK$13,271,000), the majority of which is payable within 1

year.

29 Approval of financial statements

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 2 6 ApR 2019
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BPI lnternational Finance Limited
Unaudited Supplementary I nformation

The following information is disclosed as part of the accompanying information to the
financial statements and does not form part of the audited financial stiatements.

I Liquidity Position

Average liquidity maintenance ratio

133,783 226 174 28 134.398

2017

503.03%

PHP Total
HK$'000 HK$'000

28 422,213
(z',) (287,815)

97 379.205
(3) (260,884)

94 112321

2018

379.400h

The liquidity maintenance ratio ('LMR") is calculated in accordanoe with the Banking
(Liquidity) Rules effective from 1 January 2015. The average liquidity maintenance ratio is
calculated based on the average value of the LMR for each calendar month as reported in
the liquklity position rctum submitted to the Hong Kong Monetary Authority ('HKMA').

Liquidity risk manaoement orocess

The liquidity condition of the Company is monitored on a daily basic by the Company's chief
executive. The balanoe between liguidig and profitability is carefully oonskiered but the
former is given higher priority in case of conflicts in meeting targets or regulatory
requirements.

2 Other than functional currency concentrations

Equivalent in Hong Kong ddlars
2018

Spot aesels
Spot liakilities

Net long posillon

Net sffuclural position

Equivalenl ln Hong Kong ddlars
2017

Spot ass€ts
Spot liatilities

Net long posilion

EUR US$
HKI'000 HK$'000

394,8/13
(281.000)

189

189

31 349,870
(237,708)

31 112,162

GBP
HK$'000

226

31

31

AUD
HK$'MO

26,927
(26,753)

25,178
(2s,1731

3

Nel slruclural posilion
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3 l{on-Bank Helnland Chlna Expoeuror

The analysis of mainland activities exposures is based on the categories of non{ank
countorparlies and the type of dircct exposures defined by HKMA under the Banking
(Disclosure) Rules with reference to the HKMA Return of Mainland ac{ivities. This includes
the mainlend ac'tivlties exposures extended by the Bank and its mainland banking aubsidiary.

2018

1, Centnal govemment, central
govemment-entities and their
subsidiaries and JVs

2. Local govemments, local government-
owned entities and their subsidiaries
and Ws

3. PRC nationala rcaiding in Mainland
China or other entities incorporated
in Mainland China and their
subsidiaries and.JVs

4. other entitiee of central govemment
not reported in item 1 above

5. Oher entitiee of local governments
not reported in item 2 above

6. PRC nationals residing outside
Mainland China or entities
incorporated outside Mainland
China where the credit is granted for
use in Mainland China

7. other counterparties where the
exposuros sr€ considercd by the
reporting institution to be non-bank
Mainland China exposures

Total assets after provision

On-balance sheet exposures as
percentiage of total assets

On-balance Ofr-balanoe
sheel sieel

exposure exposure
Total

exposurc
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3 Non€ank talnlend Ghlna Exposutue (continued)

2017

On$alance
sheet

exposurc

1. Central govemment, oentral
govemm€nt-entitiee and their
Eubsidiariee and JVs

2. Local govemmentg, local govemrnent-
owned entlties and their subsHiaries
and JVs

3. PRC nationals residing in Mainland
China or other entities inoorporated
in Mainland China and their
subsHiaries and JVs

4. other entities of central government
not reported in item 1 above

5. other entities of local govemmenta
not reported in item 2 above

6. PRC nationals residing outside
Mainland Chlna or entities
incorporated outside Mainland
China where the cradit ia gnanted for
use ln Mainland China

7. other counterpadieg where the
exposures are considered by the
rcporting institution to be non-bank
Meinland China e)eosures

6,286

Total assets after provision
6,286

424,ilo

Off-balance
sheet

axposune
Total

exposurc

6,296

On-balance sheet exposures as
peroentage of total assets 1.48%
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1 Gapital3tructurc and adequacy

(a) Rlsk welghted amountlor crcdlt rlsk

The Company uses the basic approach for calculation of credit risk.

Sovereign exposures
Public Sector Entig exposures
Bank exposur€B
Other exposures
Exposure aubject Io 1250% risk-weight

2018
HK$'000

16,O72
1,850

77,959
48,856

1,U2

2017
HK$'000

17,7%
2,O02

74,241
26,687

Total risk-weighted amount for on-balance sheet
exposurBs 145,779

Trensaclion-related contingencies
Trade-related oontingenciea

Total risk-wephted amount for off-balanoe sheet
exposures

Total risk-weighted amount for credit riek 145,779

(b) Rlsk-welghted amount for mar*et rtsk

The Company is exempted from the calculation of market risk in 2018 and 2017.

(c) Rlsk welghted amountfor openflonal rlsk

The Company uses the basic indicator approach for calculation of operational risk.

2018
HK$'000

Risk-weighted amount for operational risk 53,463

'|-20,724

120,724

2017
HK$'000

40,700
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5 Segmental information

(i) BY gPographical areas

lnformation has been claseified acoording to the location of the principal operations of the
Company. All of the Company's principal openations arc oonducted in Hong Kong.

(ii) Advances to customers

Gross advances to cnstomera by industry sedorc

Loans for use in Hong Kong
- lndividuals - othere
Loans for uee outside Hong Kong

Gross edvanes to cuetomers by geographicalarea

2018
HK$',000

43,407

2017
HK$',000

17,754

43,407 17,754

2018
HK$',000

2017
HK$'000

Residential statua of cuetomers:

The Phllippinee 43,407 17,754

The above gross edvances only include gross advances to customers. The rclated collec{ive
provisions maintained ln regulatory reserue source from the same geographical area.
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5 Segmentalinformation(continued)

(iii) lnternationalclaims

lnternetional claims are on-balance sheet exposure to counterparties based on the location
of he counterparties after taking into account the transfer of risk, and represent the sum of
cross-border cleims in all cunencies and local claims in foreign cunencies. The table shows
claims on individual countries and tenitories or areas, after recognised risk tranefer,
amounting to not less than 'lOo/o ol the Company'e total intemationalclaims.

2ot8
IVonBerr*

PnVale Seclor
Olwhbh:

non-
l'r errc&ll

pdvalc
socttr

HK$',000

l. Derreloped Countriee
of wfiicfi Auslralia
d wtrlch United
of wtrich Unlcd
of wtricfi J4an

Klngdom
Statrs

Senks
HK3'(x)0

7,000
49.0O0
17.000
8,000

247,000

6,000

4,000

Eanks
HKS',000

7,000
16,000
25,000

8.000

273.000

8.000

Ofllclel
Sccjor

HKS'000

15,000

r.0q)
13,000

OlflcEt
Scclor

HK$'000

23,000

3,000

Ol vtttich:
llon-ban/r

ftnarchl
ineltlutbn
HK$'000

Otrr
HK$'000

Otrr
HK$'000

Tola,
HK$'000

7,000
49.000
32.000

8,000

247,O@

6.0@

50,000
13,000

7,(X)0

Total
HKS'000

7,000
22,000
48,000

8,000

273.000

8.000

32.000
r4,000
11,000

2. Olfshae Cenlers
otsfildt Gaynan laland
ot wtrich Sangapor€
of tvfiich Hong Kong

3, Dcwloplng Afrlca and Mlddle
East

of which Unitod tu8b Emiretea

4, Dcvcloplng Asia and Pacillc
of wiich Phllippinco
of wtrich lndonesia
d wttich South Korea

2ol7

1- Dovslop€d Countriee
of which Ausltalia
of which United Kingdom
ol whlch United Slal€g
of whlch Japan

2- Olfahac Ccntrrs
of which Cayman lsland
of which Singapore
of which Horrg Kong

3 Dewloping Africa and Mirldle
Eaei

of United Arab Emirelce

4 Dewloping Asia end P*ific
ol which Philippines
of wtrlch lndoneala
of whlch South Korea

4{i,000

7.000

IVon-8ank
Prrele Scclor

Otwhich:
f,/on-banlr

lfn,arrcial
ttsltunbn
HK$',000

Olwhich:
tE n-

finarcial
prlmle
sechr

HKo',000

6.000

a,ooo
14,000

7.000
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5 Segmentalinformation(contlnued)

(iv) By class of business

The Company is primarily engaged in Retailand Goryorate bueineas, end Treasury activitiee.

Retailand Corporate business mainly correns deposit taking, consumerfinance and aecurities
servloes.

Treasury activities rehte to the managing of capilal, liquidig, interest rate and fonign
exchange positions of the Company in addition to propdetary tnades.

Business segments

2018

lnterest income - external
lntercst exponse - external

Net interest incqne

Netfees and oommission income
Other operating income

Total operating incorne

Gain from disposal of a$aidiary
Credit impairment
Operating exp€nses

Proflt befiore taxaton

Depreciation and anrortiaation charge

Segment ageets
Totrelaeeets

Segment liabilities
Total liatilities

3,458 2,360

Retail and
Cwpuate
Dusiness
HKD'OOO

6,157
(2,699)

Treaatry
HK$'000

2,360

Olfiers
Ht(s'000

Total
HK$'000

8,517
(2,69€)

17,039
18.691

5.818

17,039
18,691

39,188

19,100
(632)

(33,032)

2,390 41,548

19,100
(632)

(33,032)

24,424 2,360 26,984

279

8,028 456,451

279

359,227 89,196

288,018 3,e94 291,710
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5 Segmentrllnformetlon(contlnuedl

nr7

Retalla'ed
@rywate
Dusiness
HKlD',000

3,353
(1,ES8)

Trnatry
HK$'000

2,497

Ofiers
Ht($'000

Tdal
HKS',000

5,950
(1,856)

lntereat lncome - extemal
lntereat expense - ademd

Net lnEred inoqne

Net leoc and oommiscion income
O$er operating inoomc

Totaloperating inccne
Operating €xpenss

Prutit beforetaretion (2,506) 2,497

1,497

14,7i2Q
5,858

2,497 3,994

14,720
5,858

22,O75
(24,581)

2,497 u,572
(24,581)

(e)

Depreclatlon and amortsatlon charge

Segment assetg
Totalaaeetg 296,113 124,n1 5,908 428,332

Segment liaHlities
Total llabilliies 259,693 g,gg2 268,685

6 Overdue rnd Focheduled loeng

There w€re no orrerdue and mscheduled loans and repossessad aasets es at 31 December
201E (2017: Nil).

94it94!t
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7 Corporate Govemance

The Company has fully complied with the requirements set out in fre guideline on "Corporate
Govemance of Locally lncorporated Authorized lnstitutions' issued by HKMA.

Board of Directonr

The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the operations and the financial
soundness of the Company. The ultimate goal is to meet its overall responsibility to all its
shareholdere, depositors, crreditors, employees and other stakeholders. The responsibilities
include the following:

(a) Ensure competent management

o Appoint Chi€f Executive wilh integrity, technicalcompetenoe, and experience in
banking business enabling him/her to administer the Company's affairs effectively
and prudently.

o Oversee the appointment of other senior executives such as the division heads.

o Approve the management succession policy of the Company.

o Effectively supervise senior management's performan@ on an ongoing basis.

(b) Approve objectives, strategies and business plans

o The Company shallestablish its objeclives and draw up a business strategy for
achieving them.

Consistent with the Company's objectives, business plans shall be eetablished to
direct the ongoing aclivities of the Company.

The Board of Diredors shall approve these objectives, strategy and business
plans, and ensure that performance against plan is regularly reviewed.

The Board of Diredors shall approve annual budgets and review performance
against these budgets.

(c) Eneure that the operations of the Company are conducted prudently, and within the
framework of applicable laws and policies

The Board of Directors shallensure that the internal control systems of the
Company are effeciive and that the Company's operations are properly oontrolled
and comply with policiee approved by the Board as well as with laws and
regulations.

The Board of Directors are ultimately responsible for ensuring that the Company
complies with laws and regulations, in particular the Hong Kong Banking
Ordinance.

o

a

a

a
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7 Corporate Goyemance (continued)

(d) Ensure and monitor that the Company conduc{s ils affairs with a high degree of
integrity

The Board of Directors shall ensure that the Company observes a high standard of
integrity in its dealings with the public.

Particular case shallbe taken to comply with laws and regulations of statutory
bodies in order to ensure the Company conducts ils affairs with a high degree of
integrity.

The Board of Directors shallensure that the Company's remuneration policy is
consistent with its ethical values, objectives, strategies and controlenvironment.

The Board of Directore shallapprove a set of ethical values which are
communicated throughout the Company such as code of conduct.

The Board of Directors shallestablish policies and procedures to ensure
compliance with ethical values.

The Company has established three Board level committees: the Audit Committee, the Risk
Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

Audit Gommittee

The Committee is accountable to the Board and:

provides independent monitoring, review and supervision of the effectiveness and
adequacy of the intemal control systems of lFL, including its financial reporting controls
and information technology security; and

re-inforces he work of internal and external auditors.

The Committee shall provide oversight over the:

Overall management of credit, market, liquidity, operational, legaland other risks of IFL;

lnternalauditors and extemal auditors; and

Quality of compliance with IFL's corporate governance policies and the applicable laws,
rules and regulations.

a

a

a

a
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7 Corporate Govemance (continued)

Risk Committee

f)

The Risk Committee is a stand-alone committee that is separate and distinc{ from Ure

Company's Audit Committee.

The Committee shall provide advice to and assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibility of
overseeing fre Company's risk management frameworks wtrich include risk govemance and
the Company's risk appetite framework,

The responsibilities of the Committee include, among other things:

a) Understanding the overall risk profile of the Company and ensuring that the risks
assumed by the company are properly managed;

b) Creating a strong risk culture throughout the Company and ensure that the Company's
risk appetite is wellenshrined within the culture;

c) Develop an organization and management struc{ure with a sound controlenvironment,
adequate segregation of duties and clear accountability and lines of authority;

d) Evaluating at least annually the risks faced by he Company, and mainlaining
continually avuareness of the Company's business and risk profiles and changes in the
operating environment and financial markets that may give rise to emerging risks;

e) Ensuring that the necessary infrastructure, systems and oontrols arc developed and
maintained to suppott effective risk management and govemance; and

Sefting up controls to ensure the integrity of the Company's overall risk management
process and to monitor the Company's compliance with all applicable laws, regulations.
supervisory standards, best practices and intemalpolicies and guklelines;
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7 CorporateGovernance(continued)

Remuneratlon Committee

The Committee provide advice to and assists the Board in discharging its responsibility for
the design and operation of the Gompany's remuneration system and make
recommendations in respect of remuneration policy and practices to the Board.

The Commiftee makes recommendations on the formulation and implementation of a written
remuneration policy for the Company.

Other Speclalised Committeee

The Company has also established the following management level committees:

(a) ExecutiveCommittee

The Board of Diredors of the Company serves as the Executive Committee of the
Gompany.

It executes resolutions adopted in any stockholders'meetings, while the Company
adopts business direction from the Board of Direclore of the Company.

(b) Assets and Liability Committee

The Asset and Liability Commiftee (ALCO) manages the Company's assets and
liabilities. Specifically, its objective is to plan, direct and controlthe levels, mix, volume
and spreads on the various balanoe sheet and off balance sheet accounts. Aside from
developing balance sheet strategies, the ALCO reviews and updates existing policies
and guidelines and makea the necessary adjustments as needed to adapt to the
changing financial environment.

This committee meets on a regular basis to discuss market developments, financial
performanoe and risk and complianoe issues and other mattars relevant to the
Company's business of managing house and clients'funds,

The ALCO members are: the Chief Executive, Chief Operating fficer, Head of Risk
and the Treasury Head.

(c) Risk Management Committee

The management level Riek Management Committee (RMC) oversees and manages
the Company's exposures to risks and monitors the Company's regulatory and internal
capital adequacy via lhese exposures to risks.
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7 Corporate Govemance (contlnuedf

RMC monilors the credit risk, market risk and operational and lT risks and other risk
areas by

reviewing the existing credit exposure to monitor tre exposure portfolio quality and
credit concentration risk

reviewing stress test and sensitivity analysis lor the exposure portfolio

reviewing the defined risk limits

monitoring completeness and relevanoe of management and operating manual
including business continuity plan

overseeing the implementration of a sound business continuity management
framework

The RMC members are appointed by the cfrief executive and is composed of Head of
Risk. the COO, the CFO and the senior oompliance percon.

This commiftee meets on a monthly basis. Specialmeetings may be convened by any
member of the Commiftee or the RMC Chairperson anytime as the need arises.

(d) Anti-Money Laundering and Counter Financing of Tenorism Committee

The Anti-Money Laundering and Counter Financing of TenoriEm Committee (AML/CFT
committee) is responsible for the consistent and effective implementation of AML/CFT
guidelines, and is responsible in conducting a regular risk analysis and ensuring that
AML/CFT systems are capable of addressing the dsks identified.

The rnembers of the AMUCFT committee are: the Money Laundering Reporting
Officpr, the Chief Executive, the Chief Operating Officer, Head of Compliance, Head of
Risk and Head of Legal. The committee meets on a monthly basis to oversee,
manage, evaluate and apprcve the strandarde of the suepicious transaction to ensure
the appropriate actione are obeerved.

(e) Products Committee

The Committee:

Reviews and approves the securities/investment products to be marketed and/or
recommended to clients;

Reviews and approves the product due diligence performed; and

Monitors the performance of the recommendatory securities list and reports to the
Board in a timely manner any significant risks identified which may adversely
impact the Company and/or the BPI Group of Companies,
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7 CorporateGovernance(continued)

RE[4A: Remuneration Policy

The Company establishes a Remuneration Policy which govems the setup of a Board Level
Remuneration Committee and formulates the principles of remuneration determination for its
staff. The Remuneration Policy of the Company promotes an overall scheme of remuneration
that matches tre Company's business objectives, risk tolerance and risk management
framework.

The Company has complied with the requirement set out in Part 3 (disclosure on
remuneration) of fre Supervisory Policy Manual CG-s entitled "Guideline on a Sound
Remuneration System" issued by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority in all material aspec{s.

Below ar€ some relevant Policies:

o Govemance

The Remuneration Committee is a BPI IFL Board level committee that reviews and
approves BPI IFL's remuneration policy. The consistent, continuing implementation of
the policy shall be the responsibility of the Board and the local human resources
responsible personnel. An annual review of the policy shall be conducted and passed
upon by the Board to ensure compliance with the guideline.

o Remuneration Structures

Besides monthly fixed pay, employee may be entilled to a vadable compensation which
depends on the performance of the Company, team, and individual employee.

o Performanoe Measu reme nt

A Performance & Planning Review (PPR) is conducted annually. Indivldualemployee's
goals and key performance index should be set at the beginning of a year and to be
agreed with his/her manager. Mid-year review is highly re@mmended. Under the PPR
proo6ss, employees are required to prepare and approve by their manager on current
year objeclive and expected deliverables which can be quantifiable. The PPR is a base
to evaluate the performance of each employee for previous year.

a Senior Management and Key Personnel Compensation

The aggregate fixed and variable income payouts of the senior management and key
personnel of fre Company (in accordance wi0r the disclosure requirement of 3.2.3 of the
Guideline) were HK$8,348,019 for 2018 (2017: HK$7,119,996).

There were no deferred remuneration for 2018

69


